**RECEIVED**

**Feb 04 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE FULL COMMISSION  
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

APPELLATE CASE NUMBER: 2024-000822

---

Sonya Parks,

Claimant and Appellant,

v.

Cintas Corporation,

Employer and Respondent,

and

Farmington Casualty Company,

Carrier and Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

RICHEY AND RICHEY PA  
Lola Stradford Richey  
Post Office Box 10916  
Greenville, South Carolina 29603  
(864) 467-0503 (Office)  
(864) 467-0646 (Fax)  
[lawfirm@richeyandrichey.com](mailto:lawfirm@richeyandrichey.com)  
Attorney for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE COMMISSION COMMIT AN ERROR BY DISREGARDING THE CLAIMANT'S HEARING TESTIMONY AND THE TESTIMONY OF HER CO-WORKERS AND MANAGEMENT WITNESSES, AND EVIDENCE THAT THE CLAIMANT WAS NOT COMPLAINING OF ANY SIGNIFICANT PROBLEMS WITH HER LEFT SHOULDER AND LEFT ARM UNTIL LIFTING A VERY HEAVY GARMENT OVERHEAD AT WORK?
2. DID THE COMMISSION COMMIT AN ERROR BY DISREGARDING THE EXPERT MEDICAL TESTIMONY OF THE DEFENDANT-EMPLOYER'S AUTHORIZED TREATING DOCTOR THAT THE CLAIMANT'S JUNE 15, 2022, LIFTING INJURIES AT WORK AGGRAVATED, ACTIVATED, AND ACCELERATED HER LEFT SHOULDER AND ARM TO A REASONABLE DEGREE OF MEDICAL CERTAINTY UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA CODE ANNOTATED §42-9-35?
3. DID THE COMMISSION COMMIT AN ERROR BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THE GREATER WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE BY DISREGARDING THE CLAIMANT'S TESTIMONY AND THE DEPOSITION OF HER COWORKERS, AND THE DEFENDANT-EMPLOYER'S MANAGEMENT DEPOSITION TESTIMONY?
4. DID THE COMMISSION COMMIT AN ERROR BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THE REPETITIVE NATURE OF THE CLAIMANT'S JOB DUTIES?

## OVERVIEW AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against the Decision and Order of the Full Commission. (See Full Commission Decision and Order, May 8, 2024). The Claimant Sonya Parks (“Claimant” or “Ms. Parks”) is a 54-year-old single woman who worked with Cintas Corporation (“Employer” or “Cintas”) since July 31, 2000, as a “Folder” in the folding department. The essential function of her job duties involved lifting heavy totes full of laundry and heavy garments at work. R. 114.

On June 15, 2022, while Ms. Parks was folding and lifting garments, she tried to reach too high to pull a heavy coverall out of one of the bins in the cleanroom. R. 129. During this time, Ms. Parks’ left arm popped, and she experienced acute and aggravating pain in her left shoulder because the garments were very heavy, and she lifted them extremely high. R. 129; R. 33 (Hearing Tr. 24:11-19; 25: 4). After this incident, Ms. Parks had a tightening and worsening feeling in her left shoulder and arm that did not exist before June 15, 2022. R. 34 (Hearing Tr. 26:2-4).

The Claimant’s coworkers informed the quality manager Linda Saniewski (“Ms. Saniewski”) and brought her to the scene. R. 34 (Hearing Tr. 26:6-11). Ms. Saniewski notified the production manager Tanner Burton (“Mr. Burton”) about the incident, and he sent Ms. Parks home. R. 129; R. 34; R 368 (Hearing Tr. 26:16-19; Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 59:19-23). Ms. Parks did not report to work on June 16, 2022, and on June 17, 2022, Ms. Parks informed the HR Manager Kami Phillips (“HR”) that her left shoulder and left arm was still sore. She also requested Human Resources to set up a doctor's appointment for her. R. 369 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 60:8-11). On June 17, 2022, Ms. Parks went to the authorized treating physician Occupational Health Doctor Joel Anderson Smithwick, M.D. (“Dr. Smithwick”). R. 370 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 61:11-15). Dr. Smithwick recommended light duty to Ms. Parks and advised that she see the orthopedic doctor

Stephen Geoffrey Pill M.D. (“Dr. Pill”) for MRI. R. 370 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 61:16-19).

However, Dr. Pill was unavailable, and she could not see him. R. 370, 371 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 61:20-25; 62:1-3). Ms. Parks still worked on light duty, and Dr. Smithwick restricted her from doing overhead lifting and working only by her waist side. R 373 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 64:22-24).

Much before the incident of June 15, 2022, Ms. Parks had an underlying rotator cuff issue in her left shoulder that originated from an April 2019, injury. R. 30 (Hearing Tr. 11:12-16). However, this issue did not have any effect on her current duties and responsibilities. Her existing workers' compensation matter related to her September 2, 2021, on-the-job injury also did not affect her current work as she used her left shoulder and arm for lifting while her right shoulder and arm were in a sling. (Id.).

Notably, on or about November 1, 2021, Ms. Parks was working on light duty, lifting, and pulling goggle straps through a tight space with a jerking motion. This activity aggravated and worsened her work-related bilateral shoulder injuries and pain. R. 29 (Hearing Tr. 9:15-19). Ms. Parks underwent shoulder injections for her work-related shoulder injuries without lasting pain relief. Thereafter, Ms. Parks continued to work until June 15, 2022, without any other complications. R. 30 (Hearing Tr. 10:9-13). The Commission did not find that June 15, 2022, injury aggravated Ms. Parks’ left shoulder injury even after there is evidence that she did not have any significant complaints nor limitations about her left shoulder before this lifting injury.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Court must affirm the factual findings of the Commission if they are supported by substantial evidence. South Carolina Code Annotated §1-23-380(5) (2005 & Supp. 2020); *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 132-33, 276 S.E.2d 304, 305 (1981). Like any other finder of fact, the Commission may not rest its findings on speculation or guesswork. *Tiller v. Nat'l Health*

*Care Ctr. of Sumter*, 334 S.C. 333, 339, 513 S.E.2d 843, 845 (1999) ("Workers' compensation awards must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation."). Instead, the Commission must anchor its ruling on evidence substantial enough to provide a reasonable basis for its findings. *Hutson v. S.C. State Ports Auth.*, 399 S.C. 381, 387, 732 S.E.2d 500, 503 (2012). The Court may reverse the Commission's decision if its findings are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; the result of an error of law; or arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to Parks' substantial rights. South Carolina Code Annotated §1-23-380(5).

### **ARGUMENT**

**I. The Commission committed an error in not properly considering the hearing and deposition testimony and the medical records regarding the Claimant's present and previous injuries and the fact that she did not have any significant complaints about her left shoulder until June 15, 2022, injury.**

Ms. Parks injured her left shoulder on June 15, 2022, at Cintas while on duty. There is evidence that shows Ms. Parks had pre-existing health conditions. However, there is further evidence to show that June 15, 2022, work injury accelerated and aggravated this pre-existing health condition. The Commission, however, disregarding the hearing testimony, including the deposition transcripts of Ms. Parks' coworkers, and the medical records, entered an order based upon her own opinion without medical support nor medical evidence that her pre-existing conditions were not dormant and her June 15, 2022, injury did not aggravate her prior conditions.

Factual determinations by the Commission are upheld on review only if supported by substantial evidence. *Curiel v. Env'tl. Mgmt. Servs.*, 376 S.C. 23, 29, 655 S.E.2d 482, 485 (2007). "An appellate court's review is limited to the determination of whether the Commission's decision is supported by substantial evidence or is controlled by an error of law." *Brailey v. Michelin N. Am. Inc.*, 438 S.C. 77, 85, 882 S.E.2d 172, 177 (Ct. App. 2022) (citing *Clemmons v.*

*Lowe's Home Ctrs., Inc.-Harbison*, 420 S.C. 282, 287, 803 S.E.2d 268, 270 (2017)). Substantial evidence is the "evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds" to reach the same conclusion reached by the administrative agency to justify its action. *Mullinax v. Winn-Dixie Stores*, 318 S.C. 431, 435, 458 S.E.2d 76, 78 (Ct. App. 1995).

When a pre-existing condition or disease is accelerated or aggravated by injury or accident "arising out of and in the course of the employment," the resulting disability is a compensable injury. *Brown v. Jordan Old Company*, 291 S.C. 272, 275, 353 S.E.2d 280, 282 (1987); *Arnold v. Benjamin Booth Co.*, 257 S.C. 337, 185 S.E.2d 830 (1971); see also *Sturkie v. Ballenger Corporation*, 268 S.C. 536, 541, 235 S.E.2d 120, 121 (exacerbation of pre-existing disease or injury arising out of or in course of employment is compensable).

The right of a claimant to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing condition arises only where there is a dormant condition which has produced no disability, but which becomes disabling by reason of the aggravating injury. *Hines v. Pacific Mills*, 214 S.C. 125, 51 S.E.2d 383 (1949). See also *Burnette v. City of Greenville*, 401 S.C. 417, 427, 737 S.E.2d 200, 205-06 (Ct. App. 2012) ("An injured employee 'who 259\*259 has a permanent physical impairment or preexisting condition' may receive benefits for a subsequent work-related disability if he establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that 'the subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment.'" (quoting § 42-9-35)). "The claimant's right to compensation for aggravation of a preexisting condition arises when the claimant has a dormant condition that becomes disabling because of the aggravating injury." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 86, 710 S.E.2d 454, 458 (Ct. App. 2011). The claimant's right to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing condition arises when the claimant has a dormant condition that becomes *disabling* because of the aggravating injury. *Anderson v. Baptist Med.*

*Ctr.*, 343 S.C. 487, 493, 541 S.E.2d 526, 528 (2001). Where a latent or quiescent weakened but not disabling condition resulting from a disease or condition is by accidental injury in the course and scope of employment is aggravated, accelerated, or activated, with a resulting disability, such disability is compensable. *Mullinax v. Winn-Dixie Stores*, 318 S.C. 431, 458 S.E.2d 76, (Ct. App. 1995); *Glover v. Columbia Hospital of Richland County*, 236 S.C. 410, 114 S.E.2d 565 (1960). The aggravation, acceleration, or lightening up of a preexisting condition or latent infirmity or weakened physical condition may constitute a disability of such a character as to come within the meaning of workers' compensation, when the accident is caused by an external force at work and not the natural result or progression of a disease. *Ferguson v. State Highway Department*, 197 S.C. 520, 15 S.E.2d 775 (1941); *Radcliffe v. Southern Activation School*, 209 S.C. 411; 40 S.E.2d 626 (1946). Even if a worker previously had an injury, a worker is entitled to workers' compensation benefits for an aggravation or acceleration of the preexisting condition, where medical evidence showed that the worker was injured in a work-related accident and the work injury accelerated the previous condition. *Sharpe v. Case Produce Co.*, 329 S.C. 534, 495 SE2d 790 (Ct. App. 1997). In *Brown v. Jordan Oil Co.*, 291 S.C. 272, 353 SE.2d 280 (1987), the South Carolina Supreme Court has held:

It is no defense that the accident, standing alone, would not have caused the claimant's condition, because the employer takes the employee as he finds him. If the accident accelerates or aggravates a preexisting condition, the resulting injury is compensable.

In *Gordon v. E.I. Du Pont Nemours & Co.*, 228 S.C. 67, 88 S.E.2d 844 (1955), the Court held:

The rule is well established that where a latent or quiescent weakened, but not disabling, condition resulting from disease is by accidental injury in the course and scope of employment aggravated or accelerated or activated, with resulting disability, such disability

is compensable. The same principle is equally applicable where the latent, but not disabling, condition has resulted from a prior accidental injury. If the disability is proximately caused by the subsequent 580\*580accidental injury, compensability is preferable to that, and not the earlier one.

In *Geathers v. 3V, Inc.*, 371 S.C. 570, 579-80, 641 S.E.2d 29, 34 (2007), the Court held when an employee with a preexisting, but non-disabling prior injury suffers a subsequent, disabling injury that aggravates or activates the preexisting condition, compensability is limited to the second injury, not the first). Thus, when a pre-existing condition or disease is accelerated or aggravated by injury or accident arising out of and in the course of the employment, the resulting disability is a compensable injury.” *Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co.*, 360 S.C. 276, 295, 599 S.E.2d 604, 614 (Ct. App. 2004) (internal quotation and citation omitted). See also *Sturkie v. Ballenger Corp.*, 268 S.C. 536, 541, 235 S.E.2d 120, 122 (1977) (exacerbation of pre-existing injury resulting from or during employment is compensable). In the context of aggravation of a pre-existing condition, “[t]he claimant's right to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing condition arises when the claimant has a dormant condition that becomes disabling because of the aggravating injury.” *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 86, 710 S.E.2d 454, 458 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing *Anderson v. Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 343 S.C. 487, 493, 541 S.E.2d 526, 528 (2001)). Notably, the South Carolina Supreme Court has held even where a worker’s osteoarthritis in both knees probably existed prior to his fall in the court of his employment, the fall at work aggravated and accelerated the formerly dormant condition and the resulting disability is compensable. *Daley v. Public Sav. Life Insurance Company*, 236 S.C. 236, 113 S.E.2d 758 (1960).

An employee can establish with a preponderance of evidence including medical evidence that “the subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or . . . the preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35(A). See *Burnette v. City of Greenville*, 401 S.C. 417, 427, 737 S.E.2d 200, 205-06 (Ct. App. 2012) “A determination of whether a claimant's condition was accelerated or aggravated by an accidental injury is a factual matter for the Appellate Panel.” *Hargrove*, 360 S.C. at 295.

Likewise, in *Hargrove*, the court affirmed the Appellate Panel’s decision in favor of the employee. In *Hargrove*, the employee’s supervisor testified that the employee had problems with her hand and arm before joining the job, but she never informed him about it before joining the job. The employee only complained about the problem after one of her job shifts. The court here noted that “[i]n deciding whether substantial evidence exists, it is appropriate to consider both the lay and expert evidence.” *Id.* at 296. The court also observed that “[a]lthough there is evidence from which the Appellate Panel could have gone the other way, there is clearly evidence which would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Panel reached.” *Id.*

In Ms. Park’s case, the Commission based its decision only on a few facts in the records about Ms. Parks' prior injury to her left shoulder. Ms. Parks previously injured her left shoulder in a 2019 injury at Cintas and in 2020, Dr. Pill diagnosed a complete tear of Ms. Parks' rotary cuff. R. 344, 345 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 35:22-25; 36:1-2). Even though Dr. Pill previously recommended surgery for Ms. Parks’ left shoulder issues he did not impose any restrictions or limitations on her left shoulder while scheduling the surgery. R. 357, 358 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 48:22-25;49:1-7). Ms. Parks is right-hand dominant and worked with her right hand. R. 349 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 40:11-19). Due to several reasons, Ms. Parks could not undergo her surgery and

meanwhile, she also injured her right shoulder in September 2021. Ms. Parks had no issues with her left arm or shoulder, and it did not hurt her, and she was able to do her regular work at Cintas after the earlier injury. R. 358 (Ms. Parks Dep. Tr. 49:16-18).

In the hearing testimony, Ms. Parks made it clear that until the injury on June 15, 2022, her left hand did not cause her problem. R. 34 (Hearing Tr. 27:20-22). According to Ms. Parks, her left hand never popped in the same manner as it did on June 15, 2022, while she lifted the garments hurting her from shoulder to elbow. R. 34 (Hearing Tr. 27:10-18). Even on the day of the accident, Ms. Parks worked on full duty without any restrictions or limitations on her left arm. R. 35 (Hearing Tr. 31:15-22; 33:10-12). After the June 15, 2022, injury, Ms. Parks was unable to do many things that she did before, including working overtime. R. 35 (Hearing Tr. 32:9-13).

Ms. Parks did light duty only when she suffered injuries to her right shoulder in September 2021. When asked about not doing overhead lifting after the September 2021 injury, Ms. Parks only said that she tried to avoid doing it. R. 38 (Hearing Tr. 44:21-23). This statement by Ms. Parks cannot be misinterpreted because that does not mean that she did not do overhead lifting or try to avoid doing it because of her left shoulder pain. Ms. Parks repeatedly stated that she was on regular duty on June 15, 2022, and did things that are done for regular duty. R. 38 (Id.). Here, Ms. Parks did not deny having problems with her left shoulder. However, her claim here relates to compensation for the aggravation of her pre-existing condition due to the June 15, 2022, injury.

Ms. Parks' deposition testimony makes it clear that she experienced tremendous and accelerated pain after the June 15, 2022, incident, which was *different* from her previous experience. Even though she did not perform the recommended surgery, she did not have any

issues until June 15, 2022. But the June 15, 2022, incident is now forcing Ms. Parks to have the surgery at the earliest. Moreover, Mr. Burton testified that before June 15, 2022, Ms. Parks was on full job duty and performed her work without any difficulties. R. 282 (Mr. Burton Dep. Tr. 11:16-23). He also said that before June 15, 2022, Ms. Parks never complained to him about her left shoulder. R. 284 (Mr. Burton Dep. Tr. 13:18-19). Apart from Mr. Burton, Ms. Parks' co-workers also testified that she was on full duty until June 15, 2022, used her arms and shoulders without any difficulty, and she never complained about having any issues with her left shoulder before the June 15, 2022, incident. R. 304; R. 306 (Wanda Gayle Jefferson Dep. Tr. 9:4-7; 11:21-23); R. 249; R. 250 (Gerrit Jims Kurtycz De. Tr. 9:3-10, 21-24; 10:1-4); R. 293 (Linda Lee Saniewski Dep. Tr. 8:19-22).

The Commission, however, did not consider the *relevant* parts of the hearing testimony and the deposition of Mr. Burton and Ms. Parks' co-workers who testified that *Ms. Parks never complained about left shoulder pain before the June 15, 2022, incident*. The Commission only relied on Ms. Parks' statement that her left shoulder bothered her, to conclude that the left shoulder issues were not dormant. As observed in *Hargrove* and *Daley*, the evidence in the record discussed above will allow reasonable minds to conclude that the June 15, 2022, lifting injury of Ms. Parks lead to aggravating, activated, and accelerated her pre-existing condition of the left shoulder and arm. The Commission erred in neglecting and ignoring the co-worker testimony and the medical evidence on record and based the findings on statements that do not have much evidentiary value and neglected the substantial evidence and prevailing case law that Ms. Parks' June 15, 2022, work-related lifting injuries aggravated, accelerated, and activated her left shoulder to the point that her left shoulder had become disabling.

**II. The Commission committed an error in disregarding the expert medical testimony of the employer defendant's treating doctor.**

“Expert medical testimony is designed to aid the Commission in coming to the correct conclusion . . .” *Tiller v. Nat’l Health Care Ctr.*, 334 S.C. 333, 340, 513 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1999). S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35(C) defines medical evidence as "expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, records, or other material that is offered by a licensed health care provider . . .” *Id.* “[W]hile medical testimony is entitled to great respect, the fact finder [can] disregard it [only] if there is other competent evidence in the record.” *Brailey v. Michelin N. Am. Inc.*, 438 S.C. 77, 88, 882 S.E.2d 172, 178 (Ct. App. 2022) (internal quotation and citation omitted).

Ms. Parks’ injury to her left shoulder on June 15, 2022, was a result of her on-job heavy lifting of long garments. This injury affected her bilateral shoulders, arms, hands, and neck. Because of severe pain, Ms. Parks had to go to Dr. Smithwick on June 17, 2022. Dr. Smithwick found that the deltoid insertion and the anterior capsule areas were tender, and her range of motion was limited to about 90 degrees globally. R. 62 . Dr. Smithwick placed limitations on her left shoulder activities and recommended limiting activities by keeping the left hand and arm activities at waist level and restricting shoulder movements until July 1, 2022. R. 61. Dr. Smithwick also suggested avoiding forceful grasping with the left hand. R.61.

During the follow-up visit on June 29, 2022, Dr. Smithwick again noted persistent pain and recommended orthopedic care. Dr. Smithwick’s medical questionnaire noted that Ms. Parks’ June 15, 2022, lifting accident aggravated and accelerated her left shoulder pain. R. 64-65. Dr. Smithwick also noted that Ms. Parks had a long history of bilateral shoulder pain. R. 62. Moreover, the deposition of orthopedic surgeon Dr. Pill dated June 1, 2022, related to Ms. Parks’ September 2021 injury, shows that Ms. Parks had complained of her left shoulder after the work-related injury in 2011. R. 140 (June 1, 2022, Dr. Pill Dep. Tr. 9:3-17). Previously, in April 2019,

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