RECEIVED

Feb 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Appellate Panel
SCWCC File No. 2207846

Appellate Case No. 2024-000822

Sonya Parks, Claimant.....Appellant,

v.

Cintas Corporation, Employer, and
Farmington Casualty Company, Carrier.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Matthew C. LaFave
LAFAVE BAGLEY, LLC
2019 Park Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
803.724.5727
matt@lafavebagley.com

Attorney for Respondents

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

For an injury to be recoverable in a workers’ compensation action, the injury must be “by accident arising out of and in the course of employment.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(A) (2015); see also *Turner v. SAILA Constr.*, 419 S.C. 98, 105, 796 S.E.2d 150, 154 (Ct. App. 2016) (“For an accidental injury to be compensable, it must “arise out of and in the course of employment.” “An injury arises out of employment if it is proximately caused by the employment.” *Id.*

The present claim is governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35, which provides:

(A) The employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that:

- (1) the subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or
- (2) the preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury.

(B) The commission may award compensation benefits to an employee who has a permanent physical impairment or preexisting condition and who incurs a subsequent disability from an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment for the resulting disability of the permanent physical impairment or preexisting condition and the subsequent injury.

See also Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C. 417, 427, 737 S.E.2d 200, 205–06 (Ct. App. 2012).

(“An injured employee ‘who has a permanent physical impairment or preexisting condition’ may receive benefits for a subsequent work-related disability if he establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that ‘the subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment.’” (quoting § 42-9-35)). “The claimant’s right to compensation for aggravation of a preexisting condition arises when the claimant has a *dormant condition* that becomes disabling because of the aggravating injury.” *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 86, 710 S.E.2d 454, 458 (Ct. App. 2011) (*emphasis added*). It is irrefutable that Appellant’s condition was not dormant in that she had been diagnosed with a traumatic tear of her left rotator cuff the year prior to the June 15, 2022, incident. Further, Appellant had been recommended for surgery and had made multiple attempts to schedule the surgery, prior to June 15, 2022, but was unsuccessful due to a number of personal factors.

The Appellate Panel correctly determined that Appellant’s claim for a left shoulder injury resulting for a June 15, 2022, incident fails because the condition claimed to be aggravated was not dormant on the date of the purported incident. There was substantial evidence in the record that Appellant had an active condition which was in need of surgical intervention and that said was not aggravated on that June 15, 2022. Because the condition that was claimed to have been aggravated was not dormant, this claim must fail.

Appellant admitted on cross-examination that she was diagnosed with a “complete tear” of her left shoulder in 2021. (R. p. 37). She further admitted medical professionals recommended surgery—medical recommendations that she failed to comply with for a litany of personal reasons that did nothing to lessen the medical need for such intervention or alleviate her active injury to the left shoulder. (R. pp. 37-38). Appellant testified that she was suffering from an active injury to her left shoulder, stating “my left shoulder always bothered me.” (R. p. 32). Further, Appellant’s counsel readily acknowledged during her questioning of Appellant that, “we’ve already established it looks like a 2010, 2011, 2019, 2021, 2022, that you were having left shoulder problems.” (R. p. 34). Appellant then admitted the current issues with her left shoulder had previously happened but “not for a while” because she was intentionally avoiding using, or otherwise limiting use of, her left arm due to an active injury. (R. p. 34). She further testified she avoided doing anything (work or personal related) that involved lifting anything over her head due to her active injury to her left shoulder. (R. p. 38). Appellant’s testimony alone provides sufficiently substantial evidence to support the Appellate Panel’s finding that she failed to establish the pre-existing condition to her left shoulder was dormant prior at the time of the alleged June 15, 2022, work incident.

Beyond Appellant’s own testimony clearly establishing she had an active injury to her left shoulder on June 15, 2022, her own evidence presented in her APA submission further reinforces the holding that she had an active injury to her left shoulder. Crucially, Dr. Pill’s deposition, which taken on June 1, 2022—*before* this work incident on June 15th—is teeming with references to her active left shoulder injury. Dr. Pill reports that he first began treating Appellant for left shoulder pain in April of 2021 and recommended MRI and surgery at that time (neither of which Appellant did). (R. pp. 138, 145-146). Dr. Pill reported that he removed the restriction for light duty at

Appellant's request because "she said the light duty actually made her hurt more." (R. pp. 138, 145-146).⁵

In addition to evidence offered through live testimony and deposition, Respondents APA submissions plainly establish that her issues with the left shoulder were not dormant. Specifically, medical records from Blue Ridge Orthopedics-Powdersville and Blue Ridge Ortho Easley that highlight a very clear pre-existing history of a "nontraumatic complete tear of the left rotator cuff" for which surgery was recommended. The record established that Appellant sought on three (3) separate occasions to have surgery to repair the left rotator cuff tear. Importantly, Appellant's final attempt at undergoing surgery for her left shoulder was cancelled as a result of her injuring her right shoulder. The record establishes the injury to her right shoulder was a result of her overcompensating due to active issues with her left shoulder.

Finally, it cannot be overstated that Appellant's own submissions to the Commission in July of 2022 for a separate incident clearly reference an active injury to her left shoulder that she describes as repetitive in nature. (R. p. 22). In fact, it would stand that Appellant should be judicially estopped, based on this filing, from taking the position she now takes that her left shoulder issues were dormant. The fact that Appellant unfortunately suffered another injury to her right shoulder that was arguably more severe than her pre-existing injury to her left shoulder does nothing to weaken the substantial evidence that clearly establishes an active injury to her left shoulder.

The record clearly contains substantial evidence that supports the Single Commissioner's determination that Appellant's injury to her left shoulder was not dormant on June 15, 2022, and,

⁵ Critically, Dr. Pill never testified, nor did Appellant present any evidence, that her removal from light duty was due to an improvement of her on-going injury to either shoulder, including her left shoulder.

accordingly, she failed to establish she suffered a compensable work-related injury pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-35.

Despite the abundant evidence in the record supporting the Single Commissioner's ruling, Appellant nevertheless argues this ruling was in error because she presented evidence that established she was not under any type of work restriction on the day of the incident. However, as discussed above, this argument is neither persuasive nor dispositive when the uncontroverted evidence establishes the reason, she was under no work restrictions owed to her request that they be lifted because of her perceived onerousness of the light duty work by comparison to her regular duties. The mere fact that Appellant was not under any type of restrictions by a treating physician at the time of the incident does not establish the condition of her left shoulder was dormant. The record plainly establishes that despite working her regular duties, Appellant actively avoided a full range of motions with her left arm and relied more on her right arm due to her on-going injury to her left shoulder and limitations arising therefrom. In fact, the evidence tends to establish that Appellant's right shoulder injury was directly related to her overreliance on her right arm.

Appellant next argues that because she presented expert medical testimony from Dr. Smithwick that the June 15, 2022, work incident aggravated her shoulder injury, the Single Commissioner erred in denying her claim. Specifically, Appellant rests this argument on Dr. Smithwick's response to a questionnaire prepared and submitted by Appellant's counsel, wherein Dr. Smithwick affirmatively answered "yes" to the following question, "[d]oes Sonya Melissa Parks have left shoulder and arm pain and injuries causally and directly related and/or directly aggravated by her June 15, 2022, lifting injuries with Cintas of Greenville?" However, as the Decision and Order correctly noted, Dr. Smithwick, who had only seen Appellant twice following this June 15, 2022, incident, noted on the same questionnaire in response to this question, "for left

shoulder, causally based on patient history.” The inference that was reasonably drawn from this response is that he was not made privy to Appellant’s medical history. Furthermore, as already discussed above, contrasting medical evidence from Dr. Pill, who had been Appellant’s treating provider before this June 15, 2022, incident, established Appellant had a pre-existing injury to her left shoulder that pre-dated June 15, 2022, which had not been resolved through recommended treatment.⁶ Appellant’s assertions that she is entitled to workers’ compensation merely because she was able to present some medical evidence to support her claim fails as a matter of law. *See Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co.*, 360 S.C. 276, 294, 599 S.E.2d 604, 613 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Although medical testimony is entitled to great respect, the fact finder may disregard it if there is other competent evidence in the record”; *Tiller v. National Health Care Ctr.*, 334 S.C. 333, 340, 513 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1999) (stating that medical testimony should not be held conclusive irrespective of other evidence); *Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc.*, 336 S.C. 154, 519 S.E.2d 102 (1999) (noting that whether substantial evidence supports a finding of causation, it is appropriate to consider both the lay and expert evidence). Appellant’s argument that an affirmative, qualified answer to a medical questionnaire should trump the ample evidence in the record establishing a contrary position is unpersuasive and should be rejected by the Court.

II. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION DID NOT DISREGARD OR REFUSE TO ACCEPT ANY EVIDENCE IN RENDERING ITS DECISION AND ORDER.

Appellant argues the Commission failed to consider, or otherwise disregarded, medical evidence. Specifically, Appellant claims the Commission disregarded the opinion of Dr.

⁶ Appellant’s arguments that Dr. Pill established that her left shoulder injury was resolved on June 15, 2022, are unsupported by the record. It also cannot be overemphasized that the testimony from Dr. Pill was from a deposition taken *before* this June 15, 2022, injury and focused primarily on an injury to her right shoulder.

Smithwick. Appellant, however, undermines her own argument by providing direct reference to the Single Commissioner's careful and measured evaluation of the weight and impact to be afforded to Dr. Smithwick's opinion in rendering her decision. This evaluation of the evidence is actually contradictory to an argument that it was disregarded.

Further, in an attempt to support this assertion Appellant incorrectly attempts to establishing overbroad limitations on the Commission's ability to disregard medical evidence. Appellant contends that the Court, in *Brailey v. Michelin North America, Inc.*, held that "the fact finder [can] disregard it [only] if there is other competent evidence in the record." 438 S.C. 77, 88, 882 S.E.2d 172, 178 (Ct. App. 2022). The Court, in *Brailey*, was not so limiting as to a fact finder's ability to disregard medical testimony as to permit it only if there is other competent evidence in the record. The Court, quoting from *Tiller v. Nat'l Health Care Ctr. of Sumter*, 334 S.C. 333, 340, 513 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1999), stated "[W]hile medical testimony is entitled to great respect, the fact finder may disregard it if there is other competent evidence in the record." *Id.* In actuality the case at bar is strikingly similar to *Brailey*, in that Dr. Smithwick's opinion was not given greater weight because it was based solely on Appellant's history. Dr. Smithwick was found to have been unaware of the extent of Appellant's pre-existing condition as to her left shoulder. The Commission did not disregard the opinion of Dr. Smithwick it was simply found to be flawed in that it was made without the full history of Appellant's left shoulder issues.

III. APPELLANT DID NOT PROPERLY PRESERVE THE ISSUE OF HER JOB DUTIES BEING REPETITIVE IN NATURE AS A BASIS UPON WHICH TO FIND COMPENSABILITY.

Respondents contend that Appellant did not preserve the final issue argued in her initial brief. Specifically, Appellant argued the Commission committed an error by failing to consider the repetitive nature of Appellant's job duties. On April 18, 2023, Appellant filed a Form 30, Request

for Commission Review wherein she provided three (3) bases as the grounds for her request, which are set out as follows:

- 1) Did the Single Commissioner err by disregarding the claimant's hearing testimony and numerous co-worker and management witnesses' deposition testimony and evidence that the claimant was not complaining of any significant problems with her left shoulder and left arm until lifting a very heavy garment overhead at work?
- 2) Did the Single Commissioner err by disregarding and not properly considering the expert medical testimony of the employer-defendant's treating doctor that her June 15, 2022, lifting injuries at work aggravated and worsened her left shoulder and arm to a reasonable degree of medical certainty pursuant to South Carolina Code Annotated 42-9-35.
- 3) Did the Single Commissioner err by disregarding and not considering the greater weight of the medical evidence, claimant's testimony, co-worker and the defendant-employer's management deposition evidence that the claimant did not complain of any pain nor problems with her left shoulder and left arm until her June 15, 2022, work-related lifting injuries.

As evidenced by the above grounds, taken verbatim from Appellant's Form 30, Request for Commission Review, it is plain to see that the "repetitive nature" of Appellant's job duties was not one of the grounds for consideration by the Appellate Panel. "As a general rule, an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. Issues not raised in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." *Doe v. S.B.M.*, 327 S.C. 352, 356, 488 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct. App. 1997); (*see also State v. Hudgins*, 319 S.C. 233, 460 S.E.2d 388 (1995), *cert. denied*, 516 U.S. 1096, 116 S.Ct. 821, 133 L.E.2d 764 (1996)). It is irrefutable that Appellant failed to raise, as a grounds for review by the Appellate Panel, or argue the issue of her job duties being repetitive as a basis for compensability. Therefore, this assertion by Appellant constitutes an effort to raise the issue for the first time on appeal thereby resulting in it not having been properly preserved. Moreover, Appellant has repeatedly argued this

as an injury by accident claim in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 by claiming her left shoulder was injured when she was lifting a garment overhead on June 15, 2022.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, this Court should affirm the Decision and Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Appellate Panel in full.